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Kanazawa-Related Modernization Heritage in Museum Meiji-Mura
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Curator at Museum Meiji-Mura

(1) What is Museum Meiji-Mura?

Opened in March 1965, Museum Meiji-Mura is
an open air museum that conserves and exhibits
architecture and historical materials from the Meiji era,
when the foundations of Japan’s modernization were
laid.

The idea behind Museum Meiji-Mura came when the
Rokumeikan was demolished in 1940. The Rokumeikan
was state-run meeting place built in 1883 under the
direction of Marquess INOUE Kaoru, who then served
as Minister for Foreign Affairs. It was built for the
purpose of rectifying the unfair treaties that Japan had
signed with foreign powers during the Bakumatsu (the
closing years of the Tokugawa Shogunate). Despite
the building’s historical significance—built at a time
when Japan was still a developing nation, it embodied
the aspirations of the Meiji regime—the building was
demolished one day in 1940 unannounced.

Having witnessed the building’s demise, architect and
later president of Museum Meiji-Mura, TANIGUCHI
Yoshiro (see Photo 1), was moved to pen an article for
a newspaper. Titled “Heartfelt Sorrow for Meiji,” the
article included the following lament: The Rokumeikan
could have been conserved. It could have been made
into a museum to commemorate the Meiji era, uniting
the minds of people born in that period and bringing in
their belongings and records. It would have served as
precious heritage for future generations. Thinking in this
way, I cannot help but feel regret.

Many years later, in the 1960s, Kanazawa-born
TANIGUCHI was attending a class reunion of his
alma mater, Fourth National High School. During the
occasion, he reminisced about the sorrow he felt at
the demolition in 1940 and communicated his vision:
to relocate valuable Meiji architecture and exhibit the
structures in a museum in order to foster understanding
about Modern- period architecture and the Meiji era

*In this article, "Fourth National High School' means "The
Fourth Higher School' ,and "Fourth National Middle High
School' means "The Fourth Higher Middle School' in
others.
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Photo 2. Map of Museum Meiji-Mura when it first opened

in general. One attendee impressed by this vision was
then deputy president of Nagoya Railroad Co.,Ltd,
TSUCHIKAWA Motoo. The two former classmates then
began working together. They settled on a location: by
Irukaike reservoir in Inuyama, Aichi Prefecture. Japan
was then in the midst of its rapid postwar economic
growth and urban development, which had led to the
destruction of many pieces of modern architecture built
in the Meiji era. When TANIGUCHI heard reports that
a piece of valuable modern architecture was due for
demolition, he would send staff to evaluate whether
it was worth relocating the structure. In March 1965,
Museum Meiji-Mura opened.

Initially, the museum had just 15 buildings (see Photo
2), but the number tripled over the next 10 years,
so by 1975 the museum had more than 40 buildings
(see Photo 3). The museum now counts 64 buildings
(see Photo 4). These buildings cover a wide range of
architectural genres; they include a chapel, prefectural
office, foreign settlement houses, merchant houses,
school buildings, and lighthouses. They have also been
relocated from a range of locations in Japan, as well
as from overseas destinations of Japanese emigration,
including Hawaii, Seattle, and Brazil (see Photo 5).
Eleven of the buildings, along with three artifacts, have
been listed as Important Cultural Properties. With these
assets, Museum Meiji-Mura is now the largest open air
museum in Japan. During the Showa 40s (1965-1975),
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Photo 4. Aerial shot of Museum Meiji-Mura
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Photo 3. Poster commemorating the museum’s 10th anniversary
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Photo 5. Buildings relocated to Museum Meiji-Mura
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Photo 6. Exterior view of the Physics and Chemistry Theaters,
Fourth National High School
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Photo 7. Eastern tiered classroom prior to demolition

Museum Meiji-Mura’s presence inspired efforts to
conserve Modern-period architecture across Japan,
thereby contributing to the rediscovery of the value of
local cultural resources.

The museum also conserves four buildings from
Kanazawa along with related artifacts, which is
unsurprising given that this was the hometown of the
museum’s founding director, TANIGUCHI Yoshiro
Introduced below are the Kanazawa-related buildings
and the key artifacts.

(2) Kanazawa-Related Modernization Heritage in
Museum Meiji-Mura

(2). 1)Buildings

Building@: Physics and Chemistry Theaters,Fourth
National High School (Photo 6)

Fourth National High School was originally Fourth
National Middle High School (Dai-Shi Koto-chu Gakko).
The school opened in Kanazawa in 1887, one year
after the 1886 National Middle High school Ordinance
(Chagakko Rei). Tt became Fourth National High School
in 1894, when national middle high (kétocha gakko)
were renamed national high schools (koto gakks). In
1949, Japan passed the National University Act (Kokuritsu
Daigaku Secchi Ho), and the school’s operations were
transferred to Kanazawa University. The school closed in
the following year.

Following the closure, the school building served for
some time as a Kanazawa University building. However,
the structure was earmarked for demolition with a
view to building new school buildings on the site. The
demolition work began in 1964 (see Photo 7) and the
school’s physics and chemistry theaters was relocated to
Museum Meiji-Mura in April 1965.

Construction of the physics and chemistry theaters
commenced in 1889 and was completed the following
year. The building was officially known as Fourth
National Middle High School Science Laboratory (Dai-Shi
Koto-chigakko Butsurikagaku Jikkenjo). Two individuals
involved in the project were YAMAGUCHI Hanroku
and KURU Masamichi, both noted experts in school
architecture and engineers employed at the Ministry of
Education. Incidentally, both architects were involved in
the construction of every first, second, third, fourth, and
fifth national middle high school established pursuant to
the 1886 National Middle High Schools Ordinance. The
national middle high schools built at that time consisted
of an entranceway, a main school building (known as the
honkan or honkd), a science lab, and a dormitory. The
fact that these schools had a separate building dedicated
to scientific experimentation illustrates the importance
the Meiji regime placed upon the natural sciences.

The physics and chemistry theaters comprised a
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Photo 8. "Musei-do", Gymnasium for Martial Arts, Fourth National
High School
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Photo 9. Judo and kendo dojo in the "Musei-do", Gymnasium for
Martial Arts, Fourth National High School

single-story wooden building with 11 rooms and a total
floor space of 234 tsubo. The physics classroom was
located to the right and the chemistry classroom to the
left of the entrance (from the perspective of someone
entering the building). Both classrooms had tiered
seating. Only the 137.6-tsubo central section of the
building was relocated to Museum Meiji-Mura.

Building@: “Musei-do”, Gymnasium for Martial Arts,
Fourth National High School (Photo 8)

Built to commemorate the school’s 30th anniversary,
the martial-arts gym served as a facility for archery,
kendo swordsmanship, and judo (see Photos 9 and
10). From the very beginning of Museum Meiji-Mura,
the gym was shortlisted for relocation there along with
the Physics and Chemistry Theaters, Fourth National
High School, not least because TANIGUCHI Yoshiro,
one of the museum’s founders, had been a member
of his school’s archery club, while the other founder,
TSUCHIKAWA Motoo had been a member of the kendo
club.

The gym was built in 1917. This technically makes
the building an example of Taisho-era (1912-1926)
architecture. However, since the change of reign names
from Meiji to Taisho heralded no major architectural
shift, Museum Meiji-Mura from its outset covered
architecture up to the 1923 Great Kanto earthquake.

Immediately after the First World War ended, Japan
experienced runaway inflation, causing construction
costs to rise prohibitively. Fourth National High School’s
alumni donated around half of the construction fund.
The building has a traditional Japanese exterior. On
the inside, lavish lamps hang from the ceiling. The
judo dojo has a spring floor, and the kendo dojo has an
underlayment to create pleasing acoustic effects when
the floor is stepped on.
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Photo 10. Archery range in the "Musei-do", Gymnasium for Martial
Arts, Fourth National High School
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Photo 11. Central Guard Station and Ward, Kanazawa Prison
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Photo 12. Inside of Central Guard Station, Kanazawa Prison

The gym is now the best-utilized building in Museum
Meiji-Mura. On weekends, it is used by aficionados of
kendo, judo, and archery. It is also used for student or
corporate club activities and for competitions.

Building®: Central Guard Station and Ward, Kanazawa
Prison (Photos 11 and 12)
Building 4: Main Gate, Kanazawa Prison (Photo 13)

Kanazawa Prison was built in 1907. The building was
demolished in 1971 and Kanazawa College of Art was
built on the site. The demolished prison’s central guard
station and its fifth cellblock were relocated to Museum
Meiji-Mura in 1972. The main gate was relocated there
in 1977.

One of the five great prisons of the Meiji era,
Kanazawa Prison was designed by YAMASHITA Keijiro,
an architect and technician employed by the Ministry
of Justice. The prison included amenities designed to
aid the correctional rehabilitation of inmates, but not
all of these were relocated to Museum Meiji-Mura.
Accordingly, the relocated building does not convey
the full value of the original building—namely, the
functional layout of amenities necessary for correctional
rehabilitation.

(2). 2)Artifacts
Artifact@): Generator in Tatsumi Power Station (Photo
14)

The first artifact discussed here is a generator that
was used in the Tatsumi Power Station. Opened in 1900,
the Tatsumi Power Station was the first power station
in Kanazawa. The generator was produced in 1913 by
the Westinghouse Electric & Manufacturing Company.
It is now exhibited in Museum Meiji-Mura’s Machinery
Hall, which was built in conjunction with a Meiji-
centenary celebration held in Museum Meiji-Mura. The
power supplied by the power station contributed to the

BE13 £RERIEF
Photo 13. Main Gate, Kanazawa Prison
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Photo 14. Generator used in the Tatsumi Power Station

modernization of the textile industry, a key industry in
Kanazawa and Ishikawa Prefecture as a whole.
Artifact®): Prof. A Inokuty Centrifugal Pump (Photo 15)

This pump was designated an Important Cultural
Property in 2021. It was invented by the engineer Dr.
INOKUTY Ariya and manufactured by HATAKEYAMA
Issei, a student of INOKUTY and descendant of the
Noto-Hatakeyama clan. A groundbreaking invention for
the time, the pump design was adopted across Japan
and contributed to the modernization of the nation’s
agricultural industry.

(3) Utilization of Modernization Heritage: As
Illustrated by the Physics and Chemistry Theaters,
Fourth National High School

After the Physics and Chemistry Theaters, Fourth
National High School was relocated to Museum Meiji-
Mura, visitors were only able to view the tiered
classroom at the left of the entrance from the hallway.
This situation persisted for around 30 years.

However, in around 1998, visitors gained access
the tiered classroom as part of a project titled “The
Meiji Experience,” which was designed for people to
experience the interiors of the museum’s buildings up
close. Another new room was opened to the public to
commemorate museum co-founder TSUCHIKAWA
Motoo. In 2010, an exhibit on fellow co-founder
TANIGUCHI Yoshiro was added to the room (see Photo
16).

Buildings are not just meant to be viewed from
the outside. Their design and construction are the
product of an interplay of variables and considerations,
including what the intended purpose is, how the
building is to be used, and where it is to be located.
The buildings in Museum Meiji-Mura, insofar as they

have all been relocated, have been severed from their
original contexts—the history and culture of the land on

BEE15 ADOKLRERVT
Photo 15. Prof. A Inokuty Centrifugal Pump
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Photo 16. Room in the Physics and Chemistry Theaters, Fourth
National High School commemorating TANIGUCHI Yoshird and
TSUCHIKAWA Motoo

which they were built. Moreover, in the case of Fourth
National High School and Kanazawa Prison, only part
of the original structure was relocated, making it hard
to understand the functional aspects of the building
and to glean historical insights therefrom. Relocation is
therefore the last recourse in an effort to conserve the
building.

To compensate for these issues with relocation, we
renovated the Physics and Chemistry Theaters, Fourth
National High School’s exhibit in 2020, 130 years after it
was constructed in 1890. The emphasis of the exhibition
was placed on the functionality of the building design
aimed for as a scientific experiment site.

The relocated property includes physics and chemistry
classrooms, which have tiered seating and flank the
building’s central entranceway. Both classrooms also have
an adjoining prep room, the Japanese name of which,
as cited in historical documents, was the ydi-shitsu.
Positioned between the chemistry class and the prep
room is a draft chamber. The draft chamber used a very
simple design to prevent any toxic gases or substances
used in experiments from permeating indoors: The toxic
materials would be taken in an upward draft, which was
created in advance by heating the flue in the ventilation
duct with an alcohol burner, and they would then be
expelled up the flue when the chamber door was shut.
Because this system was far simpler than the one used
in Fifth National High School (the one affiliated with
Kumamoto University) and in Gakushuin University, it
was initially believed that many parts of it were missing.
However, it was eventually judged to be the original
system in view of extant design documents from the
time of construction.

The lecture hall (Photo 17) has windows with inner
shutters that slide up and down like rain shutters. These
kinds of shuttered windows were installed in the rooms.

An architectural plan held in the Ishikawa Prefectural
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Photo 17. Renovation of the physics classroom in the Physics and
Chemistry Theaters, Fourth National High School
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Museum of History describes these shutters as “dark
doors” (an-do), revealing that they served as blinds to
keep out the daylight. The shuttered window closest to
the teacher’s desk features a special design: The outer
shutter has a hole where the window’s recessed base is,
such that the closed shutter lets in a shaft of daylight,
illuminating the teacher like a stage spotlight. No other
examples of this feature have been found; it appears to
be unique to this building. Another notable feature is the
transom window above the door; the window tilts open
on a horizontal pivot to provide ventilation.

(4) Museum Meiji-Mura’s Role as an Open Air
Museum

On the one hand, relocating all these buildings
and historical resources to Museum Meiji-Mura is
undoubtedly preferable to letting the properties fade into
oblivion. On the other hand, it remains the case that the
properties have been transposed to a location (Inuyama,
Aichi) completely different from their original setting.
Therefore, the job of continuing to convey the value of
the heritage requires a great deal more effort than would
be required for properties that remain in their original
surroundings.

By gathering together numerous buildings into one
location, Museum Meiji-Mura gives visitors a chance
to broaden their knowledge and thus encourages them
to take a greater interest in the cultural properties
and cultural resources nestled in familiar locales and
streetscapes. Instead of regarding cultural properties
and cultural resources as things of the distant past,
we should recognize that they all form parts of a
historical continuum extending from the past right up
to the present day, and that they can offer insights
and guidance, not just to us today but to people in the
future as well. The mission and purpose of our open air
museum, Museum Meiji-Mura, is to make people aware
of this.





